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WASHINGTCON, B.C. 30463
November 28, 2000

TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON ’
ASSISTANT STAFR/DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: REASON TO BELIEVE RECOMMENDATION -

2000 OCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORT FOR THE
ADMINISTRATIVE FINES PROGRAM

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers who failed to file
or timely file the 2000 October Quarterly Report in accordance with 2 U.S.C. 434(a). On
Septemnber 21, 2000, Prior Notice was sent {0 all political committees and their treasurers,
informing them that the 2000 October Quarterly Report was due on October 15, 2000.

"The report should cover from July 1, 2000 {or the closing date of the last report filed)

through September 30, 2000.

The committees appearing on the first list (not election-sensitive) either filed the
report more than five (5) days after the due date, failed to file the report or filed the report
more than thirty (30) days after the due date {considered a non-filed report). The
committees appearing on the second list (election-sensitive) either filed the report more
than five (5) days after the due date, failed to file the report or failed to file the report
prior to four (4) days before the general election {considered a non-filed report). In
accordance with the schedule of civil money penalties for reports at 11 CFR 111.43, these
committees should be assessed the civil money penalties included on the attached lists.



Recommendation

(1) Find reason to believe that the political committees and their treasurers
listed on the RTB Circulation Reports

violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money
penalties would be the amounts indicated on the RTB Circulation Reports.

(2)

(3) Send the appropriate letters.

(4)
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, DT 20463

.DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Tuesday, November 28, 2000 4:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Friday, December 01, 2000 4:00

;,COMMESS!ONER: MASON, McDONALD, SANDSTROM, SMITH, THOMAS, WOLD

SUBJECT: Reason To Believe Recommendation 2000 October
Quarterly Report For The Administrative Fines Program.

1

{) | approve the recommendation(s)

() | approve the recommendations except these following
to which | object (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() { approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

¥
i

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONE:,Y THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

1y

! FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION

e

12
-«
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

in the Matter of

Reason to Believe Racommendation 2000
October Quarterly Report for the
Administrative Fines Program

PEGCRAM FOR CONGRESS, and JOSEPH CHOU

ags treasurer;
RAY HAYNES FOR US SENATE, and BETTY

PRESLEY asz treasurer;

LEE STEERS FOR CONGRESS / 2000, and
MARY LYNN LANYER as treasurer;

JANEZICH FOR US SENATE COMMITTEE, and
RAFAEL ORTEGA as treasurer;
DANNER FOR COMNGRESS, and EARL SOETAERT

ag treasurer;
MOORE FOR US SENATE, and LARRY KOPSA

as treasurexr;

TOM FOLEY FOR US SENATE, and FRANK M
VACCARO JR as treasurer;

JUDY SMITH FOR CONGRESS, and ALVERNON
MCHENRY as treasurer;

[N A R

Agenda Document
No. X00-87

AF# 97

AF# 98

AF# 100

AF# 102

AF# 103

AF# 104

AF# 107

AF# 113
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Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines

December 05, 2000

JEFF WRIGHT FOR CONGRESS EXPLORATORY
COMMITTEE, and D GERALD SEARFOSS as

treagurer;
COMMITTEE TO ELECT KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR

US SENATE, and KEVIN MCKEIGUE as
treasurer;

HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS, and BRUCE B
RAFER ag treasurer:’

MEEKS FOR CONGRESS 2000, and CHARLES E
REEVES I1I as treasurexr;

EVA CLAYTON COMMITIEE FOR CONGRESS,
and PATSY T HARGROVE as treasurer;

E*TRADE GROUP INC PAC (E+*TRADE PAC) ,
and MICHAEL CHOCHON az traaguraXl;
AMERICAN ACADEMY OF EMERGENCY MEDICINE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE AAEM PAC,
and WILLIAM R LITTLE MD FAMREM as
treasurer;

AMERICAN MEAT INSTITUTE POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILY¥GREN
ag treasurer;

Page 3

AFH# 138

AF# 140

) AF# 143

) AF# 145

) AF# 148

AF# 150

AF# 151

AF# 152
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Federal EBlectlion Commission
Cartification foy Administrative Fines
Dacamber 05, 2000

CINCINNATI BELL INC FEDERAL POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTER, and MARE W PETERSON
ag treasurer;

CITIZENS FOR THE REPUBLIC, and CAROLYN
ROBERTSON as treasurer;

INN/PAC INT'L ASSN OF HOLIDAY INNS INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAMES
P MCCAULEY ag treasurer;

MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ARCTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT H
KITTLEMAN asg treasurer;

PLUMBERS LOCAIL UNION NC 1
NYC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
GEORGE W REILLY as treasurer;

TACO POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
PETER BRAUN ag treasurer;

UNITED ASSCCIATION OF
STEAM/PIPEFITTERS LOCAL UNION 524
POLITICAL ACTION FUND, and ANTHONY
GALENAS as trsasurer;

VIACOM INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and MICHAEL CRUZ as
treasures;y

WISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE POLITICARL

ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD J FOX as

treagurer;
MACOME COUNTY DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE,

and NANCY FALCCME as treasurer;

gt Nl Nl gt N

S G g Wad® Wl e Wl temt et ot e et et

AF#

AF#

AF#

AFH

AF#

AP#

AF#

AF§

APH

AF#

Page

153

154

156

iss

159

162

163

164

165

166
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Federal Rlection Commiggion
Certification for Administrative Fines

December 05, 2000

WEST VIRGINIA REPUBLICAN STATE
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and ROBERT J

GOULD as treasurer;
CALIFORNIA VOTER GUIDE, and LEE ANN

FITZGERALD as treasurer;

PECC ENERGY COMPANY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILADELPHIA ELECTRIC
COMPANY PAC), and THERESA M RUCH as
treasurer;

Page b

AF# 168

AF# 163

AFH 172



Federal Election Commission Page 6
Certification for Adminigtrative Fines
December 05, 2000

CERTIFICATION

I, Darlene Harris, recording secretary for the
Federal Election Commission executive session on
December 5, 2000, do hereby certify that the
Commission took the following actions with respect
to the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated

November 28, 2000, on the following committees:

AF# 97: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £find
reason to believe that PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS, and
JOSEPH CHOU as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and make a preliminary determinaticn that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate lettex.
Commisgioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commisasioner Thomas 4id not vote.

AFH 98B: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £ind
reason to believe that RAY HAYNES FOR US SENATE, and
BETTY PRESLEY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)



Federal Election Commission Page 7

Certification for Administrative Fines
Decexber 05, 2060

and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
=t Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
P Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 100: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that LEE STEERS FOR CONGRESS /
2600, and MARY LY LANIER as treasurer., violated 2
U.S5.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
ietter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 102: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reagson to believe that JANEZICH FOR US SENATE
COMMITTEE, and RAFAEL ORTEGA as treasurer, violated



Federal Election Commission Page 8
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate

i letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,

o Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

E AF# 103: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £find

i reason to believe that DANNER FOR CONGRESS, and EARL
SOETAERT as treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and
make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Conmissioners Mascn, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.

s Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

Ay
R ¥

|

el )

(LIRS

AF# 104: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1} find
reason to believe that MOORE FOR US SENATE, and
LARRY KOPSA as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.



Federal Election Commission Page 9
Certification for Adminigtrative Fines

December 05, 2060

AF# 107: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £ind
reason to believe that TOM FOLEY FOR US SENATE, and
FRANK M VACCARO JR as treasgsurer, viclated 2 U.S5.C.
434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the

civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on

the report; (2} send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decigion.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.



Pederal BElection Commission Page 10
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

AF# 113: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that JUDY SMITH FOR CONGRESS, and
ALVERNON MCHENRY as treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C.

434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commigaioners Maseon, MeDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the. decislon.
Commigsioner Thomas did not vote.
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Federal Election Commigsion Page 16
Certification for Administrative Fines

December 05, 2000

Ar# 139: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £ind
reagson to beslieve that JEFF WRIGHT FOR CONGRESS
EXPLORATORY COMMITTEE, and D GERALD SEARFOSS as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S5.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) Bend the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, MecDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold woted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissionexr Thomas

did not vote.

AF# 140: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reagon to believe that COMMITTEE TO ELECT KEVIN



Federal Election Commission Page 17

Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

MCKEIGUE FOR US SENATE, and KEVIN MCEKEIGUE as
treasurer, viclated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money

. penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
= {2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mascon, MecDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decigion. Commissioner Thomas

did not wvote.

AFfH 143: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS, and
BRUCE E RAFER as treasurer, viclated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.
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AF# 145: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that MEEKS FOR CONGRESS 2000, and
CHARLES H REEVES IXI as treasurer, viclated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter,
Commisszioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commiszsioner Thomas did not vote.
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AF# 148: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £ind
reason to believe that EVA CLAYTON COMMITTEE FOR
CONGRESS, and PATSY T HARGROVE as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminazy
determination that the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for
the decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 150: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1} £find
reason to believe that E*TRADE GROUP INC PAC
(E*TRADE PAC), and MICHAEL CHOCHON as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434{a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for
the decipion. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 151: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that AMERICAN ACADEMY OF EMERGENCY
MEDICINE POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE AAEM PAC, and
WILLIAM R LITTLE MD FAREM as treasurer, violated 2
U.8.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary detezmination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
jetter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decipion. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.
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AF# 152: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £ind
reason to believe that AMERICAN MEAT INSTITUTE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILYGREN as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas
did not vote.

AF# 153: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that CINCINMATI BELL INC FEDERAL
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARK W PETERSON as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
{2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas
did not vote.

AF# 154: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1)} find
reason to believe that CITIZENS FOR THE REPUBLIC,
and CAROLYN ROBERTSON as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Conmissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.
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AFP# 156: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reagson to believe that INN/PAC INT'L ASSN OF HOLIDAY
INNS INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAMES P

B
HH

cis
by MCCAULEY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
i make a preliminary determination that the civil

z money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
o report; (2) send the appropriate letter.

L Commissioners Mason, McbDonald, Sandstrem, Smith, and
fu Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.

5: Cormmigsioner Thomas did not vote.

e

74
u

AF# 158: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT M KITTLEMAN as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstyom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commiszioner Thomas

did not vote.

AF# 158: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
resson to believe that PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION HO 1
NYC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITIEE, and GEORGE W REILLY
as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C..434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated oen the report;
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(2) send the appropriaste letter. Commigsioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas

did not wvote.

AF# 152: Pecided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that TACO POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and PETER BRAUN as treasurer, violated 2
U.8.C. 434(2) and make a preliminary detexmination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the zeport: (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively foxr the
decigion. Commissioner Thomas did not wvote.

AF# 163: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that UNITED ASSOCIATION OF
STEAM/PIPEFITTERS LOCAL UNICN 524 POLITICAL ACTION
FUND, and ANTHONY GALENAS as treasurer, wioplated 2
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U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commisgioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF§# 164: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that VIACOM INTERNATIONAL IRC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MICHAEL CRUZ as
treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas
did not wvote.

AF# 165: Decided by a vote cf 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that WISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITYEE, and RICHARD J FOX as
treasurer, violated 2 U.5.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report:
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas
did not wvote.

AF# 166: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that MACOMB COUNTY DEMOCRATIC
COMMITTEE, and NANCY FALCONE aa treasurer, violated
2 U.8.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.
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iy AF# 168: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £ind
o reason to believe that WEST VIRGINIA REPUBLICAN
é: STATE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and ROBERT J GOULD as
= treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C, 434(a) and make a

preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
- {2} send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas

did not wvote.

AF# 169: Decided by a vote of 5-0 te: (1) £ind
reagon to believe that CALIFORNIA VOTER GUIDE, and
LEE ANN FITZGERALD as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and make a preliminary detexrmination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.
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AF$# 1721 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £find
reascon to believe that PECQ ENERGY COMPANY POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE (FXA: PHILADELPHIA ELECTRIC COMPANY
PAC), and THERESA M RUCH as treasurer, violated 2
U.5.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissicners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.
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Attesth:

SHacsmbphy 57;;5100@ @*Jafa,&w

Date Darlene Harris
Acting Deputy Secretary
of the Commission
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WESTERN UNION COMHMERCIAL SERY
CONFIRMATION DOF CMGH TOSGEQRGE W REILLY
PLUMBERS LOCAL UNTON NO 1 NVC-PAC
15829 CROSSBAY BLVD
HOWARD BEACH NY 1i414~3137

FEDERAL ELTCTION COMMISSIOA
LEAH PALMER

999 E ST NW & T0S
WASHINGTON DC 20463

DECEM3ER Ty 2000

GEIRGE W RETILLY

PLUM3ZRS LOCAL UNION NO 1 ANYC~-PAC
158-29 CRASS SAY BLVD

HIWARD BEACH MY 114l4

CD0327478
AF&: 159

DEAR SEJRGE W REILLY:

THT FEDSPRAL ELECTION CAMPAIGN ACT OF 1971s AS AMENDED UTTHE
ACT®), REQUIRES THAT YOUR COMMITTEE FILE AN OCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORY
NE RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS IN A CALENDAR YEAR TN WHICH A
REGULARLY SCHSDULED GENERAL ELECTION IS HELD. THIS REPORT, COVERING
THE PERICND THROUSH SEPTEMBER 30TH, SHALL BE FILED ND LATER THAN
DCYTI3ER 15THe 2 UeSele 434143 YOU WERE PREVIOUSLY NOTIFIED OF THE
DUZ DATE FNR THIS REPORT, RECORDS AT THE COMMISSION INDICATE THAT
THIS REPORT HAS SILED ON 10/2272000s 7 DAYS LATE.

THE ACT WAS FURTHER AMENDED IN 1999 10O PERMIT THE FEDERAL
ELECTION COMMISSION (7THE COMMISSION®) TO IMPOSE CIVIL MONEY
PENALTIES FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS OF 2 UeSele
£34(A%s 2 UoSelse ©37G(AY{4), O 12£05/2000p, THT COMMISSION FOUND
THAT THERE IS REZASON TO BELIEVE (TRT8Y) THAT PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION
MO 1 NYC-PAC AND YOU, AS TREASURERy VIOLATED 2 UsS5.0s 434{A} BY
FATLING TO FILS TIMELY THIS REPQORY ON OR BEFORE OCTOBER 15VHe BASED
ON THE CCHMISSION®S SCHEDULES OF CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES AT 11 CFR
11143, THE AMOUNT OF YOUR CIVIL MOMEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT RTB 15
$1775.00%. 1T I35 DUE BY D1/1472001 AND IS BASED ON THESE FACTORS:

ELECTION SENSITIVITY OF REPQRT: ELECTION SENSITIVE
LEVEL OF ACTIVITY: $110143

NU4BER OF DAYS LATE: 7
NUMBER OF PREVIJUS CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES ASSESSED: ©

TO PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY
TO PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTYY, SEND THE ENCLOSED
2EMITTANCE AND YOUR PAYHENT TO THE COMMISSION AT THE ADDRESS ON PAGE




.....

“WESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICE
3, UPON RECEIDT OF YDUR PAVMENT, THE COMMISSION HILL SEND YOU A
FINAL DETERMINATION LETTER.

TO CHALLENGE THE RTB FINDING AND/GOR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY

TO CHALLENGS THE RT3 FENDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL HKONEY
PENALTYs YOU MUST SUBMIT A WRITTEN RESPONSE TO THE COMMEISSIONT®S
OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW, 999 £ STREETs NHe WASHINGTOMN, OC
20463, YOUR RESPOMSE MUST 3E RECEIVED BY 0171472001, YOUR HWRITTEN
RESPONSE MUST INCLUDE THE REASON(S) WHY YOU ARE CHALLENGING THE RT3
FIMDING ANDZOR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY. THE COMMISSION MWILL
ONLY CONSIDER CHALLENGES THAT ARE BASED ON A FACTUAL ERRORs
MISCALCULATION QF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY 3Y THE
COAMMISSIONY DR THE EXISTENCE OF EXTRAORDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES THAT
PERSISTED FIR MORE THAM 48 HOURS THAT WERE BEYOMD YOUR CONTROL AND
PREVENTED YOU FROM FILING THE REPORT IN A TIMELY MANNER. YOUR
i RESPONSE MUST IMCLUDE THE FACTUAL BSASIS SUPPORTING THE REASONIS) AND
%5 SUPPORTING DACUMEINTATION. THE COMMISSION STRONGLY ENCOURAGES THAT
DICUMENTS 3E SUBXITTED IN THE FORM® OF AFFIDAVITS OR OECLARATIONS.
IXTRAODRDINARY CIRCUMSTAMCES THAT WILL MQT BE CONSIDERED INCLUDE, BUT
ARE NOT LIMITSD TOs MEGLIGEMCE, PROBLENS WITH VENDQRS OR
CONTRACTCRS, STAFF [LLNESS, COMPUTER FAILURES AND S5IMILAR
CIQCUMSTANCES. 11 CFR 111.35{B83{1){T1113 AND {4},

IF y2U INTEND TO 3E RcPRESENTED BY COUNSEL, PLEASE ADVISE THE
JFFICE OF ADMIMISTRATIVE REVIERe YOU SHOULD PROVIDE, IN WRITING,
THE KAMEp ADDRESS AND TELEPHONE NUMBER OF YOUR COUNSEL AND AUTHORIZE
COUNSEL TN ECETIVE NOTIFICATINNS AND COMMUNICATIONS RELATING TO THIS
CHLLLENGT AND IMPOSITION OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY.
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CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY 3R SUBMIT A

{i

IF YOU D2 MNI2T PAY TH
CHALLENGE

[F YOU D0 NOT PAY THEI CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY DR SUBMIT A
ARITTEN RESPIONSEs THE COMMISSION WILL ASSUHE THAT THE PRECEDING
FACTUAL ALLZGATIONS ARE TRUE AND MAKE A FINAL DETERMINATION THAT
PLUMBERS LOZAL UNIDN N3 1 NYC=~PAC AND YOU, AS TREASURER, YIOQLATED 2
UsSela 434{A) AND ASSESS A CIVIL HMONEY PENALTY.

UMPAID CIVIL MONEY PEMALTIES ASSESSED THROUGH THE ADMINISTRATIVE
FINS REGULATIONS WILL BE SUBJECT TO THE DEBT COLLECTIOAN ACT OF
19932("DCAY)AS AMENDED SY THE OEBT COLLECTION IMPROVEMENT ACT OF
19969 31 UeSaeles 3701 ET SEQe THE COMMISSION MAY TAKE ANY AND ALL
APPROPRIATE ACTION AUTHORIZED AND REQUIRED BY THE DCAy AS AMENDED,
INCLUDING TRANSFER TN THE U«S. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY FDR
CILLECTIONs 11 CFR 1lls45,

THIS MATTER 4AS GENERATED 3ASED ON INFORMATION ASCERTAINED BY
THE COMMISSION IN THE NORMAL COURSE DF CARRYING JUT 1TSS SUPERVISORY
RESPONSIIILITIESs 2 UoSole 437G1AN{2)s (T WILL REMAIN CONFIDENTIAL
IN ACCORDANCE WITH 2 UosSele 437G{ANL4IEB) AND &ITGIAJLL23(A)} UNLESS
YOU NOTIFY THE COMMISSION IN WRITING THAT YOU WISH THE MATTER TQO BE
HADE PU3LIC.

ADDITINNAL INFDRMATION ON THE COMMISSION®S ADRINISTRATIVE FINE
PROGRAM, INCLUDING THE FINAL REGULATIONS. IS LOCATED AT THE
COMMISSION®S WEZSITE AT WHWH.FELCGOVe 1IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS
REGARDING THE PAYMENT GOF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY, PLEASE
CINTACT He SASIL TSIMPRIS IN THE REPORYS ANALYSIS DIVISION AT QUR
TOLL FREE NUMBER £8001424~9530 {PRESS le THEN PRESS &) OR
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(202)1694~1130, IF YOU HAYE QUESTIONS REGARDING THE SUBHISSION OF A
CHALLENGEy PLEASE CONTACT THE DOFFICE OF ADAINISTRATIVE REVIEW AT OUR
TOLL FREZ NUMBER (800)424~5530 (PRESS D¢ THEN EXT. 16603} OR

{202)6%4~16560.
SINCERELY,

DARRYL WOLD
CHAIRMAN

*® % # % % # % & ] 3 ] ¥ # &
ADMINISTRATIVE FINT REMITYANCE & PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS

IN ACCORDAMNCE WITH THE SCHEDULE OF PENALTIES AT 11 CFR 11le43y
THE AMOUNT OF YOUR CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT RT8 IS
51775.00 FOR THE 2000 OCTOSER QUARTEARLY REPORT,
PLEASE MAIL THIS REMITTAMNMCE WITH A CHECK OR MONEY ORDER MADE
PAYABL® TO THE FESDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION TQ THE FOLLOWING ADDRESS:
FEDERAL ZLECTICN COMMISSION
PeQ. BOX 952182
STe LGUISe MO 63155-2182

1F YOU CHOOSZ TO SEND YOUR REMITTANCE AND PAVYMENT B8Y COURIER OR

OVERNIGHT DELIVERYe PLETASE UST THIS ADDRESS:S
FIRSTAR -~ GOVERMMENT LOCK3IX
FECL #352182
1005 CONVCATIOM PLAZA
STe LOUISs MO 63101

THE REMITYANCE AMND YOUR PAYMENT ARE DUE BY 01/714/2001. UPON
RECEIPT QF YOUR REMITTANCE AND PAYMENTy, THE COMMISSION WILL SEND YOU

A FINAL DETERMINATION LETTER.
PLEASE DETACH AND RETURN ThEZ PORTIOM JELOW WITH YOUR PAYMENT

o . U o i . D b A s iy < k> D <k A A G S meh A I TS A AN N Sl ST WL AT VS IS S KB O YRS VM WS L K YR) WD W8OSR AN AR I3 TN U SUD TER R WD YRR e

FOR: OLUMBERS LOCAL UNION NG 1 NYL-PAC
FEC ID&: C€Q0327473

AFsdi: 159

PAYMENT DUE DATE: 01/714s2001

PAYMENT AXOUNT DUE: $£1775.00



Huntington Office:

18 WEST CARVER STREET
SUITE ONE

HUNTINGTON, NY 11743
631 385-0300

800 810-0024

Facsimile: 631 3B5-0888

FRANK CAROCLLO & COMPANY, B.C. E-Mail; FCRCHunt@aol.com

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS AND CONSULTANTS __ Hauppauge Office:
1770 MOTOR PARKWAY

SUITE 200

HAUPPAUGE, NY 11768

631 234-3800

Facsimile; §31 234-4142
E-Mail: FCPCHaup@acl.com

December 13, 2000

Federal Election Commission
P.O. Box 952182
St. Louis, MO 63101

Re: Plumbers Local Union No. 1 NYC-PAC
iD #. 00327478
AF#:. 159
Ladies and Gentlemen:

We represent the above mentioned client and we have enclosed our check #7978 dated
12/13/00 in the amount of $1,775.00, which represents the Civil Money Penalty as calculated.

Please credit the remittance accordingly.

Should you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact our office.

Sincerely,

Dueol Gnbo]l

Daniel Einhart

DE:fc
Enclosures

cc: Mr. George Reilly
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION .
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 L A
March 27, 2001
MEMORANDUM E‘EWE
TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
" STAFF DIRECTOR
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON '
ASSISTANT STAFH DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION

RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2000 OCTOBER
QUARTERLY AND NOVEMBER MONTHLY REPORTS

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers which the
reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil money
penalties calculated at RTB for failure to file or failure to timely file the 2000 QOctober
Quarterly and November Monthly Reports. The first list represents committees that have
paid the civil money penalty and the second list represents those that have not paid. The
committees that have not paid have been given at least forty (40) days from the date of the

RTB notification to remit payment.

Commission has found

In accordance with 11 CFR 111.34 and 11 CFR 111.40, the Commission shall send

a final determination notice to those respondents that have cither paid or not paid the civil

money penaity.

committees have filed their reports after the RTB finding. The actual level of

activity disclosed on the report results in a civil money penalty which is lower than that

assessed at RTB.
The conunittees

are:



e Committee to Elect Kevin McKeigue for US Senate
AF #140

None of the committees listed above have paid the civil money penalty. The actual
level of activity and receipt date of the reports, as well as the revised civil money
penalties, are reflected on the aitached “not paid” circulation report.

additional committees filed the report after the RTB finding and disclosed
levels of activity that would have resulted in higher civil money penalties had the reports
been filed prior to the RTB stage. However, the internal procedures adopted by the
Comrnission on March 20, 2001 only allows for approval of a lower civil money penalty
at the final determination stage if the report discloses an actual level of activity which is
less than the estimate on which the RTB civil money penalty was based. Therefore, the
civil money penalty that is recommended at the final determination stage for the
following committees is the same amount that was approved at the RTB stage:

s Eva Clayton Committee for Congress (AF #143)
RTB fine based on estimated level of activity: $4,000
Actual level of activity fine: $5,000
(The $4,000 fine has been paid by the Committee)
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RAD Recommendation

(1) Make final determinations that the political committees and their treasurers on the
attached lists violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalties so

indicated.

{2) Send the appropriate letters.
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20463 '

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Wednesday. March 28, 2001 4:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Monday, April 02, 2001 4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SANDSTROM, SMITH, THOMAS, WOLD

SUBJECT: Administrative Fines Final Determination Recommendation
For The 2000 October Quarterly And November Monthly

Reports.
() | approve the recommendation(s)
() | object to the recommendation(s)
() | approve the recommendations except those following

to which | object (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above. '

DATE: SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Administrative Fines Final
Determination Recommendation For The
2000 October Quarterly And November

Monthly Reports

PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS, and JOSEPH CHOO

as treasurer;
LEE STEERS FOR CONGRESS / 2000, and

MARY LYNN LANIER as treasurer;
JANEZICH FOR US SENATE COMMITTEE, and
RAFAEL ORTEGA as treasurer;

TOM FOLEY FOR US SENATE, and FRANK M
VACCARO JR as treasurer;

L R . - W N

AF# 97

AF# 100

AF# 102

AF# 107



Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

COMMITTEE TO ELECT KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR
US SENATE, and KEVIN MCKEIGUE as
treasurer;

HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS, and BRUCE B
RAFER as treasurer;

MEEKS FOR CONGRESS 20080, and CHARLES H
REEVES III ag treasurer;

EVA CLAYTON COMMITTEE FOR CONGRESS,
and PATSY T HARGROVE as treasurer;

E*TRADE GROUP INC PAC (E*TRADE PAC),
and MICHAEL CHCCHON as treasurer;
AMERICAN ACADEMY OF EMERGENCY MEDICINE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE AAEM PAC,
and WILLIAM R LITTLE MD FAAEM as
treasurer;

AMERICAN MEAT INSTITUTE POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILYGREN
as treasurer;

CINCINNATI BELL INC FEDERAL POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARK W PETERSON
ag treasurer;

CITIZENS FOR THE REPUBLIC, and CAROLYN
ROBERTSON as treasurer;

INN/PAC INT'L ASSN OF HOLIDAY INNG INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAMES
P MCCAULEY as treasurer;

MARRIOTDT INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT M
KITTLEMAN as treasurer;

PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION NO 1
NYC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
GEORGE W REILLY as treasurer;

L . S S

' S Nt et St e’ et T Ve e el e Yt e

L e i e P

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#H

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AFH

AF#

Page 2

140

143

145

148

150

151

152

153
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158

159
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Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

TACO POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
PETER BRAUN as treasurer;

VIACCM INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ACTICON COMMITTEE, and MICHAEL CRUZ as
treasurer;

WISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD J FOX as
treasurer:

MACOMB COUNTY DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE,
and NANCY FALCONE as treasurer;

WEST VIRGINIA REPUBLICAN STATE
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and ROBERT J
GOULD as Ltreasurer;

PECO ENERGY COMPANY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (FKa: PHILADELPHIA ELECTRIC
COMPANY PAC), and THERESA M RUCH as
treasgurer;

COMMITTEE ON ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE 2000
REPUBLICAN NATION CONVENTION, and ALEC
POITEVINT as treasurer;

BILL BRADLEY FCR PRESIDENT INC, and
THEODORE V WELLS JR as treasurer;

. P I N N R L T i

— o

L N

Page

AF# 162

AF# 164

AF# 165

AF# 166

AF# 168

AFH# 172

AF# 177

AF# 237

3
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Federal Election Commission Page 4

Certification for administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

CERTIFICATICON

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal
Election Commission, do hereby certify that
on April 2, 2001 the Commission took the following
actions on the Final Determination Recommendation
For The 2000 October Quarterly And November Monthly
Report in the Administrative Fines Program, as
recommended in the Reports Analysis Division's

Memorandum dated March 27, 2001, on the following

committess:

AFf B87: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS,
and JOSEPH CHOU as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess a civil money penalty indicated in
the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated
March 27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.
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Federal Election Commission Page 5
Certification for Administrative Fines

April 02, 2001

Commisgssioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AF# 100: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the LEE STEERS FOR CONGRESS
/ 2000, and MARY LYNN LANIER as treasurer, violated
2 U.S.C. 434{(a) and assess a civil money penalty
indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decigion.

AF§ 102: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the JANEZICH FOR US SENATE
COMMITTEE, and RAFAEL ORTEGA as treasurer, violated
2 U.S.C. 434(a) and agsess a civil money penalty
indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commigsioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 107: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the TOM FOLEY FOR US -
SENATE, and FRANX M VACCARO JR as treasurer,
vioclated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, Mchonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.
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Federal Election Commissicn Page 8

Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

AF§ 140: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the CCOMMITTEE TO ELECT
KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR US SENATE, and XKEVIN MCKEIGUE as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S5.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Divieion's Memorandum dated Marxch 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter.
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Federal Election Commission Page 9
Cartification for Adminigtrative Fines
April 02, 20061

AFH# 143: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS,
and BRUCE E RAFER as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and assess a civil money penalty indicated in
the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated
March 27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commigsioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AF# 145: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the MEEKS FOR CONGRESS
2000, and CHARLES H REEVES III as treasurer,
violated 2 U.8.C. 434{a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 148B: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final detezmination that the EVA CLAYTON COMMITTEE
FOR CONGRESS, and PATSY T HARGROVE as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001; (2) send the
appropriate letter.
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Commissionpers Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas,

and Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 150: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the E*TRADE GROUP INC PAC
(E+#TRADE PAC), and MICHAEL CHOCHON as treasurer,
violated 2 ¥.8.C. 434(a) and assess a c¢ivil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Divisicn's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;({(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 151: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a

final determination that the AMERICAN ACADEMY OF -

EMERGENCY MEDICINE POLITICAL ACTION CCMMITTEE AAEM
PAC, and WILLIAM R LITTLE MDD FAAEM as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434{a) and assess a civil mcney
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFf#t 152: Decided by a vote of .6-0 to: (1) make a
final determinaticn that the AMERICAN MEAT INSTITUTE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILY¥GREN as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
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Federal Election Commilssion
Certification for Administrative Fines

April 02, 2001

2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Weld
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 153: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the CINCINNATI BELL INC
FEDERAL POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARK W
PETERSON as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess a civil money penalty indicated in the
Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March
27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AF# 154: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the CITIZENS FOR THE
REPUBLIC, and CAROLYN ROBERTSON as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and assess a c¢ivil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 156: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1)} make a
final determination that the INN/PAC INT'L ASSN OF
HOLIDAY INNS INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
JAMES P MCCAULEY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess a civil money penalty indicated in
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the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated
Mareh 27, 2001;{2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McbDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decigion.

Ar# 158: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the MARRIOIT INTERNATIONAL
INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT M
KITTLEMAN as treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and
assess a civil money penalty indicated in the
Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March
27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decizion.

AF# 159: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION NO
1 NYC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and GECORGE W
REILLY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess a civil money penalty indicated in the
Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March

27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter. -

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandsgtrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively £or the
decision.
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AF# 162: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the TACO POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and PETER BRAUN as treasurer, violated 2
U.8.C. 434(a) and assess a c¢ivil money penalty
indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF{# lo4: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the VIACOM INTERNATIONAL
INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MICHAEL CRUZ as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil monev penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 165: Decided by a vote ¢f 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the WISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE
POLITICAY, ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD J FOX as
treasurer, viclated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a

civil money penalty indicated in the Reports -

Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold

voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 166: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final detarmination that the MACOMB COUNTY
DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE, and NANCY FALCONE as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in . the Reports
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) zend the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.
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Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

AF# 168: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the WEST VIRGINIA
REPUBLICAN STATE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and ROBERT J
GOULD as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434({(a) and
assess a civil money penalty indicated in the
Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March
27, 2001; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AF# 172: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the PECO ENERGY COMPANY
POLITICAL ACTICON COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILADELPHIA
ELECTRIC COMPANY PAC), and THERESA M RUCH as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
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Federal Election Commission Page 15

Certification for Admirnistrative Fines
April 02, 2001

Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 177: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the COMMITTEE ON
ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE 2000 REPUBLICAN NATION
CONVENTION, and ALEC POITEVINT as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and asgess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;{2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 237: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the BILL BRADLEY FOR
PRESIDENT INC, and THEQODORE V WELLS JR as treasurer,
viclated 2 U.S5.C. 434{(a} and assess a civil mcney
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001; (2} send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.
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Federal Election Commission Page 16

Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

Attest:

oz @” UL
f 200/ NI TP < L L B
Date Mary Wéyﬁove
Secret&ry of the Commission
Received in the Secretariat: Wed., Mar. 28, 2001 12:34 p.m.

Circulated to the Commission: Wed., Mar. 28, 2001 4:00 p.m.
Deadline for wvote: Mon., Apr. 02, 2001 4:00 p.m.
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WESTERN UNIDN COMMERCIAL SERVICES
CONFIRMATION OF MATLGRAM TOSGEORSGE W REILLY
: PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION NO 1 NYC-PAC
15829 CROSS8BAY BLYD
HOWARD BEACH NY 11414-3137

FEDSRAL ELECTION COMKISSION
LEAH PALMER

99% E 3T NW 2 T09
HASHINGTON DU 20463

APRIL 49 2001

GEORGE W RIZILLY

TLUMBERS LOCAL UNION NO 1 KYC-PAC
153-29 CROSS BAY ZILVD

HOWARD BEACH NY 114146

C00327473
AF#: 159

NEAFR 3E0RGE W RETLLY:

O 12/0572000 THE FEDERAL TLECTION COMMISSION (VPTHE
CHRHISS TONTY FOUND REASQONM T3 BSLILCVE (9RTBY™E THAT PLUMBERS LOCAL
UNION N 1 HYC=PATD AND Y2Uy AS TPRTASURERy VWICLATED 2 UeSele %#34L1AD
FOR FILING LATE 38 FAILING TC FILE THE 2000 OCTOBER QUARTERLY
DEPIRT, ABY MAILGRAM DATSD 1270772003, THE COMMISSION SENT YOU
NOTIFICATIAN OF THE T8 FINDING THAT INCLUDED A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY
CALCZULATED AT RTS 3F $8%1775.00 IN ACCORDAMCE WITH THE SCHEDULE OF
PEMNALTIES AT 1! CoFefo 11l1le43a

ON 12726720005 THE COMMISSION RECEIVED PAYHMENT OF YaUR CIVIL
HONTY PEINALTY CALCULATED AT RTDe. THEREFORE, THE COMMISSION HADE A
FINAL DETERMINATION N 0&4/C272001 THAT Y0OU, AS TREASURER. ANRD
PLUMBERS LOCAL UMION NJ 1 KYC-PAC YIOLATED 2 UsS5eCo 434{A%e ASSESSED
A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF $31775.00 IN ACCORDANCE HITH
11 CoFoRl 111043? AND VGTEE TD CLQSE THE FILE@

THE CONFIODENTIALITY PRCVISIONS AT 2 UsSeCe 4#37G1A3L12F NO LONGER
APPLY AND THIS MATTER 18 MNOW PUBLIC, THE FILE HWILL BE HMADE A PARY
0F THE PUBLIC RECORD PURSUANT TO 11 CofsRoe 11lu42{B8). ALTHIUGH THE
COMPLETE FILE MUST BE PLACED QON THT PUSLIC RECORD WITHEIN THIRTY (30}
DAYS FROW THE DATE OF THE COMMISSIOCMN?S NCTIFICATIONe THIS CDULD
JCCUR AT AMYTIME FOLLOWING CERTIFICATION OF THE COMMISSION®S VOTE.

IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESSTICNS REGARDING THIS MATTERe PLEASE CONTACLT
JOHN Go MUCKLE OM DUR TOLL FREE NUMBER {870)424-9530 {PRESS 1s THER
PRESS 2) CR (2382316%4-1130.

SINCERELYy

DANNY LEE MCOONALD
CHATRMAN
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THIS IS THE END OF ADMINSTRATIVE FINE CASE

#1899

DATE FILMED S Jip/o! CAMERANO. Y

CAMERAMAN 2&§
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